STATE OF CALIFORNIA GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

505 VAN NESS AVENUE
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3298

April 29, 2024

Ms. Christine Cowsert

Senior Vice President, Gas Engineering
Pacific Gas and Electric Company
6121 Bollinger Canyon Road

San Ramon, CA 94583

SUBJECT: Notice of Probable Violations — 4/29/22 Gas Pipeline Incident in Calistoga

Dear Ms. Cowsert:

The Safety and Enforcement Division (SED) of the California Public Utilities Commission investigated an
incident that occurred on PG&E’s gas pipeline in Calistoga, CA on April 29, 2022. This letter serves as
notification to you that as a result of our investigation, SED found PG&E 1in violation of several gas safety

regulations as listed in Attachment A. SED’s investigation report is also attached for your reference.

Please provide a written response within 30 days of the date of this letter indicating the measures taken by
PG&E to address the violations and its plans to prevent recurrence.

Please contact Mohammad Ali at (415) 471-9289 or by email at maS@cpuc.ca.gov if you have any
questions.

Sincerely,

F ;M rd -
Terence Fng, P.E.

Program Manager

Gas Safety and Reliability Branch
Safety and Enforcement Division

CC: / PG&E
PG&E

Mohammad Ali / SED
Dennis Lee / SED
Matt Epuna / SED

Attachments:

Attachment A: Probable Violations
CPUC Incident Investigation Report



Attachment A — Probable Violations

1) G.O. 112-F Referenced Title 49 CFR, Part 192, Section 192.750 Launcher and receiver safety.

§ 192.750 Launcher and receiver safety states:

Any launcher or receiver used after July 1, 2021, must be equipped with a device capable of safely relieving
pressure in the barrel before removal or opening of the launcher or receiver barrel closure or flange and
insertion or removal of in-line inspection tools, scrapers, or spheres. An operator must use a device to
either: Indicate that pressure has been relieved in the barrel; or alternatively prevent opening of the barrel
closure or flange when pressurized, or insertion or removal of in-line devices (e.g. inspection tools,
scrapers, or spheres), if pressure has not been relieved.

e.g. inspection tools, scrapers, or spheres), if pressure has not been relieved.

.g. inspection tools, scrapers, or spheres), if pressure has not been relieved.

The RCE (Root Cause Evaluation) report indicated that the launcher and receiver doors were equipped with
Cam Lock levers and functioned as designed. The GTGC (Gas Transmission Gas Construction) crew at location
H had access to an isolation gate valve designed to isolate hazardous energy but the isolation gate valve was not
closed before the Construction Operator-H opened the launcher (was temporarily serving as a receiver) door.

Although the RCE report noted that a pig stop safety mechanism was not required in this case because the
launcher was functioning as a receiver at the time, the launcher design did not allow for the use of such device.
The RCE indicated there was an isolation gate valve designed to isolate hazardous energy that PG&E or its
contractors did not close before opening the receiver door. However, installation of an engineered control
mechanism on the Launcher and/or Receiver to prevent opening of the barrel closure or flange when
pressurized, or insertion or removal of in-line devices, if pressure has not been relieved may have prevented the
door from being open while under pressure even if the individuals at location H ignored all safety precautions.

Therefore, PG&E is in probable violation of G.O. 112-F, Reference Title 49 CFR, Part 192, Section 192.750 for
failure to incorporate into the design of launcher or receiver used after July 1, 2021, a device to prevent opening
of the barrel closure or flange when pressurized, or insertion or removal of in-line devices (e.g. inspection tools,
scrapers, or spheres), if pressure has not been relieved.

2). G.O. 112-F Referenced Title 49 CFR, Part 192, Section 192.13 What general requirements apply to
pipelines regulated under this part.

§ 192.13 What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under this part:
(c) Each operator shall maintain, modify as appropriate, and follow the plans, procedures, and programs that it
is required to establish under this part.

PG&E had an existing written Pigging Procedure and Drying Procedure for Pipelines prior to the incident.
PG&E’s procedure TD-4137P-03, Drying Procedure for Pipelines, was the applicable procedure for the task the
GTGC crew were performing. However, the two members of the GTGC crew informed SED during separate
interviews that they were not aware of the written procedure and did not follow procedure TD-4137P-03;
instead, they relied on their experience and knowledge to perform the drying pig operations. In addition, the
RCE report confirmed that some of the GTGC crew members stated that they were unaware of PG&E’s
Standard TD-4137P-03. Furthermore, the RCE report noted that PG&E’s Standard TD-4137P-03 did not
provide guidance on what steps to take in response to an abnormal operating condition (AOC), including a stuck
pig. PG&E prepared written procedure TD-4137P-03 but the GTGC crew was unaware of the procedure and did
not follow it.



Therefore, PG&E is in probable violation of G.O. 112-F, Reference Title 49 CFR, Part 192, Section 192.13(c)
for failure to ensure the GTGC crew followed the applicable Pigging and Drying procedures it was required to
establish.

3). G.O. 112-F Referenced Title 499 CFR, Part 192, Sections 192.805 Qualification program and 192.809
General.

§ 192.805 Qualification Program States in part:

Each operator shall have and follow a written qualification program. The program shall include provisions
to:

(a) Identify covered tasks.

(b) Ensure through evaluation that individuals performing covered tasks are qualified.

(c) Allow individuals that are not qualified pursuant to this subpart to perform a covered task if directed
and observed by an individual that is qualified.

(f) Communicate changes that affect covered tasks to individuals performing those covered tasks.

(g) Identify those covered tasks and the intervals at which evaluation of the individual's qualifications is
needed.

(h) After December 16, 2004, provide training, as appropriate, to ensure that individuals performing
covered tasks have the necessary knowledge and skills to perform the tasks in a manner that ensures the
safe operation of pipeline facilities,

Furthermore,
§ 192.809 General states in part:

(e) After December 16, 2004, observation of on-the-job performance may not be used as the sole method of
evaluation.

PG&E has and maintains a written Operator Qualification (OQ) Program. However, PG&E did not identify
Pipeline Pigging and Drying Operation as a Covered Task. In PHMSA’s Interpretation PI-22-0008, dated
06/08/2022, PHMSA stated "as pipeline pigs are used for O&M pipeline activities and are integral to meeting
the integrity management requirements of Part 192, the launching and receiving of pipeline pigs is a task that
meets the "four-part-test" in § 192.801(b)..."

PG&E failed to conduct the OQ evaluation of the individuals performing the Covered Task. In addition, PG&E
failed to provide training, as appropriate to ensure that individuals performing the covered tasks have the
necessary knowledge and skills to perform the tasks in a manner that ensures the safe operation of pipeline
facilities. PG&E’s Standard TD-41375-03 did not provide guidance on what steps to take, or how to recognize
and react to an AOC, including dislodging a stuck pig.

Therefore, PG&E is in probable violation of G.O. 112-F, Reference Title 49 CFR, Part 192, Sections
192.805(a)(b)(c)(f)(g)(h) for failure to identify pipeline pigging and drying operations as covered tasks.
Furthermore, PG&E is in probable violation of 192.809(e) for failure to conduct the OQ evaluation of the
individuals performing a Covered Task and failure to train them on how to recognize and react to an AOC,
including dislodging a stuck pig.





